FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/7/2019 4:34 PM

Supreme Court No. <u>96927-2</u> (COA No. 51062-6-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY KETCHUM,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLALLAM COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Timothy Ketchum, petitioner here and respondent below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(2)(b) and RAP 13.4(b).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Ketchum seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision dated February 6, 2019, attached as Appendix A. He filed a motion for reconsideration and is awaiting a ruling.¹

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Under article I section 7 and the Fourth Amendment, before the police have authority to impound a car and search it without a warrant, they must first consider reasonable alternatives to impounding the car, as this Court held in *State v*. *Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d 690, 699, 302 P.3d 165 (2013), and the Court of Appeals explained in *State v*. *Froehlich*, 197 Wn. App. 831, 391

¹ For reasons explained in his motion to extension of time to file a motion for reconsideration, Mr. Ketchum filed his motion for reconsideration on February 27, 2019, one day after the due date. RAP 12.4. The Court of Appeals has not yet ruled. To avoid missing the deadline for filing a petition for review, Mr. Ketchum is filing this petition without knowing the outcome of his request for reconsideration. He will alert this Court to any ruling issued.

P.3d 559 (2017), among other cases. Here, the trial court concluded the police impounded the case without first considering whether there was another available driver as a reasonable alternative to impoundment. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's ruling. It cited *State v. Peterson*, 92 Wn. App. 899, 964 P.2d 1231 (1998), which held the police may impound a car as long as they have "a reason" to do so and exercise "discretion" prior to impounding the car. Should this Court grant review because the Court of Appeals opinion here and in *Petersen* conflict with other decisions, including *Tyler* and *Froehlich*?

2. The Court of Appeals in *Froehlich* expressed confusion about the extent to which *Tyler* requires police to seek the defendant's friends or relatives as alternative drivers before lawfully impounding a car. The Court of Appeals expressed similar confusion in the case at bar. Does substantial public interest favor review when the Court of Appeals expressed need for clarification in the requirement that police pursue reasonable alternatives prior to lawfully impounding and searching a car?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On Saturday March 12, 2016, at 4:30 pm, state trooper Allen Nelson was looking for speeders with a radar gun. CP 29. He saw Timothy Ketchum exceeding the speed limit. RP 8. When the trooper signaled him to stop, Mr. Ketchum pulled off the road and onto the shoulder as directed. RP 9.

Mr. Ketchum's license to drive was suspended and he had a district court warrant for driving with a suspended license in the third degree and other warrants. RP 10. Trooper Nelson knew the state patrol's policy authorized him to impound a car for 30 days if driven by a driver with a suspended license. RP 27, 50.

Mr. Ketchum was "very cooperative." RP 16-17. He told the trooper the car belonged to his girlfriend, Jessica Parker, who lived in Port Orchard, which was some distance away. RP 15, 30. The trooper arrested Mr. Ketchum, handcuffed him, and secured him in police car. RP 11, 15. He never asked Mr. Ketchum if there was another person available to move the car. RP 35. He never called the registered owner to ask her if another person could move the car. RP 36.

At the suppression hearing, Mr. Ketchum explained that both he and Ms. Parker had family and friends in the area who could have taken possession of the car. RP 52-53, 55-56.

Trooper Nelson told Mr. Ketchum that he had to impound the car and would search it first to secure any valuables. RP 15, 31. Mr. Ketchum then volunteered that he had marijuana in the car and believed it was a legal amount that he would want returned to him. RP 49. The trooper found several baggies of marijuana as Mr. Ketchum described, and also found a small baggie that contained methamphetamine. RP 20. Mr. Ketchum denied the methamphetamine was his. RP 20.

The trooper testified that he impounded the car because it was initially rainy that day, although the weather became overcast and switched from showers to clouds when he was at the scene. RP 13-14. He did not think the car should remain on the shoulder, even though it was not obstructing traffic, because bicyclists generally use a road's shoulder. RP 29. He did not think there was a nearby pull out for the car, although the car was across from a side road, Salmon Drive, which he did not investigate as a place to move the car. RP 37.

After examining the case law and questioning the trooper, the trial court concluded the trooper failed to consider reasonable alternatives to impounding the car, including not asking Mr. Ketchum if there was another person who could safely move the car. CP 14-15. The court ruled that the officer's failure to consider reasonable alternatives rendered the impoundment invalid and would not justify the warrantless inventory search. CP 15.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's ruling. It held that case law only required the officer to give a reasonable basis for impounding the car, and claimed the trial court applied the wrong standard by requiring the officer to check for family and friends who can take the car.

E. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with other cases and highlights the Court of Appeals' confusion about this Court's requirement that police must pursue reasonable alternatives before having authority of law to impound and search a car without a warrant.

1. Impounding a person's car and searching it without a warrant are significant invasions of privacy that must be authorized by law.

A state trooper's warrantless search of a car violates the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7, unless it satisfies one of the few, narrowly drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement. *Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d at 698; *Cooper v. California*, 386 U.S. 58, 61, 87 S. Ct. 788, 17 L. Ed. 2d 730 (1967) (regardless of whether state law authorizes seizure of vehicle, search must be "reasonable under the Fourth Amendment."); U.S. Const. amend. IV; Const. art. I, § 7.

An inventory search of a car may be an exception to the warrant requirement, but only if the search occurs after the police validly and lawfully impound the car. *Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d at 698, 701. The purpose of an inventory search is to protect the property inside the car while impounded, and it is not an open-

ended invitation to search the car and may not be a pretext for a general search. *Id.* at 701. The prosecution bears the burden of proving the validity of an inventory search and the availability of the narrowly drawn exception to the warrant requirement. *Id.* at 699.

In *Tyler*, this Court set forth three reasons an officer may lawfully impound a car and search it pursuant to the impoundment: when (1) there is probable cause it was used to commit a felony or has been stolen, (2) the officer is exercising its "community caretaking" authority, or (3) the legislature expressly authorized impoundment for a traffic offense. 177 Wn.2d at 698.

"Community caretaking" authority in this context means the car needs to be moved due to public safety or threat of damage to the car, and "the defendant, the defendant's spouse, or friends" are unavailable to move the vehicle. *Id*.

Impoundments of cars have also come under scrutiny because they may lead to improper demands of forfeiture, resulting in excessive punishment. *Timbs v. Indiana*, _U.S. _,

2019 WL 691578 (2019). Accordingly, an officer's authority to impound a car is closely scrutinized by the courts.

2. Under this Court's precedent, it is unlawful for police to impound a car when reasonable alternatives exist.

Tyler reaffirmed the principle that even when a police officer has a lawful basis to impound a car as a matter of public safety or because a statute allows for impoundment due to a traffic offense, the officer "may only impound that vehicle if no reasonable alternatives to impoundment exist." Id. The prosecution must prove no reasonable alternatives to impound exist. Id. at 698-99, citing inter alia State v. Hill, 68 Wn. App. 300, 305-06, 842 P.2d 996 (1993) ("in Washington, impoundment is inappropriate when reasonable alternatives exist"); Id. at 708 (reiterating requirement "officers must consider reasonable alternatives to impoundment, and if they fail to do so, any subsequent search may be found unlawful"); Id. at 713 (emphasizing limited authority to conduct inventory search because "we require officers to determine that there are no reasonable alternatives to impounding a vehicle").

Tyler repeatedly explained that the "reasonable alternatives" requirement is a prerequisite to any warrantless impoundment of a car. Id. at 698-99, 708, 713; see also In re Impoundment of Chevrolet Truck, WA License No.A00125A ex rel. Registered/Legal Owner, 148 Wn.2d 145, 151 n.4, 60 P.3d 53 (2002) (noting "it is unconstitutional to impound a citizen's vehicle following his or her arrest when a reasonable alternative to impoundment exists" (internal citation omitted)).

In *Tyler*, an officer stopped a car for speeding and learned the driver's license was suspended. The State claimed two grounds for impounding the car: community caretaking and the statutory authority of the driver's suspended license. 177 Wn.2d at 695, 699. The officer arrested the driver due to her suspended license, so she was not available to move the car. *Id.* at 700. The passenger also lacked a valid license. *Id.* The officer instructed the defendant to allow the passenger to borrow her cell phone and try to locate someone else to retrieve the car but that effort was unsuccessful. *Id.* The car could not remain where it was because it posed a public safety hazard. *Id.* at 699.

Because the officer engaged in a variety of efforts to locate an available driver or other alternative, and the car posed a clear public safety hazard if left at the scene, this Court ruled the officer had authority to search and impound the car for both reasons. *Id.* at 700, 703.

Froehlich applied the holding of Tyler to evaluate the legality of the State's warrantless inventory car search under either the community caretaking authority or the statutory authority to impound based on the driver's lack of valid license.

197 Wn. App. at 838, 841. In Froehlich, the driver crashed her car and was suspected to being intoxicated. After the police spoke to the driver, she went to the hospital and the police impounded her car. The police had the opportunity to speak to the driver, both at the scene and at the hospital, but never asked her if another person could move the car to safety. The Court of Appeals ruled the prosecution had not proven it pursued reasonable alternatives to impounding the car.

Froehlich and Tyler rest on longstanding case law placing a clear obligation on the police to prove "that no reasonable alternatives existed" to impoundment, and this includes

checking for another driver when feasible. For example, in *State* v. *Hardman*, 17 Wn. App. 910, 914, 567 P.2d 238 (1977), the court explained the prosecution does not meet its burden justifying a valid impoundment without showing the police "first explored and thereafter reasonably discarded other alternatives" to impoundment. *Id.* The exploration of reasonable alternatives includes demonstrating the officer "attempted, if feasible, to get from the driver the name of someone in the vicinity who could move the vehicle; and then reasonably concluded from his deliberation that impoundment was in order." *Id.*

3. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Tyler and Froehlich.

Here, the Court of Appeals read *Tyler* to impose a diluted obligation to explore "reasonable alternatives" before impounding a car if impoundment occurs based on a statute pertaining to a traffic offense, rather than the community caretaking function. Slip op. at 6-7. It interpreted *Tyler* to only require asking about another available driver if the impoundment is solely predicated on community caretaking. This interpretation of *Tyler* is inaccurate, because *Tyler* made

plain that the State must prove no reasonable alternatives to impoundment in any case where the police impound a car without a warrant. 177 Wn.2d at 699, 708, 713.

Froehlich also held that when the impoundment is justified by traffic laws, the police still must inquire into reasonable alternatives. 197 Wn. App. at 841. This inquiry necessarily mandates speaking to the driver, if the driver is available. Id. at 841-42. "Although an officer is not required to exhaust all possibilities, the officer must at least consider alternatives; attempt, if feasible, to obtain a name from the driver of someone in the vicinity who could move the vehicle." Id. at 845, quoting State v. Coss, 87 Wn. App. 891, 899, 943 P.2d 1126 (1997). In Froehlich, the officer's failure to ask the driver about alternatives showed that he did not consider reasonable alternatives to impoundment as legally required.

The trial court adhered to *Froehlich* and *Tyler*. CP 14-15. It found Mr. Ketchum was cooperatively present at the scene throughout, yet the trooper never asked him whether there was an available driver, never told him there was an alternative to

impoundment, and never asked the car's registered owner if there was an alternative driver. *Id*. This flaw was fatal, the trial court concluded, because it showed the officer did not pursue reasonable alternatives in these circumstances. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court. It contended that the police are only required to check for other available drivers when the community caretaking rationale is the sole basis for impoundment. Slip op. at 9. And it contended that because the officer was authorized to seize Mr. Ketchum's car due to his suspended driver's license, and not just community caretaking, the police were not obligated to inquire into other available drivers. This is incorrect.

Instead of following *Tyler* and *Froehlich*, the Court of Appeals insisted it must follow *Peterson*, a split decision from Division Three decided years before *Tyler*. *Peterson* is a cursory opinion where the two-judge majority simply asked whether the officer had "a reason" for impounding the car. 92 Wn. App. at 903. Despite the existence of a dissenting opinion, the appellant did not seek review in this Court. 92 Wn. App. at 903-05 (Schultheis, J., dissenting).

In *Peterson*, the majority opinion did not ask the same question as required by *Tyler* – that no reasonable alternative existed. It never mentioned the State's burden of proving no reasonable alternative existed. Instead, the majority stated the rule required only that officers "exercise discretion when deciding whether to impound a vehicle." *Id.* at 902. The court concluded that because there was no passenger in the car when stopped, impoundment "was reasonable." *Id.* at 903.

Peterson's analysis is cursory. It contains no description of the car's location, to indicate whether it posed a hazard or whether it was far from other available drivers. It notes the driver was stopped at "2:00 A.M." but does not indicate this time of day made it unreasonable to seek another driver. Id. at 903. It rests on the notion that the owner was not present and therefore could not authorize anyone else to make other arrangements for the car. Id.

The Court of Appeals reasoning conflicts with other decisions. This Court should grant review due to the conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and other decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(i) & (ii).

4. Substantial public interest favors review.

In Froehlich, the Court of Appeals noted it was "somewhat unclear" in Tyler if the State needed to "strictly" comply with the second requirement of checking the availability of the defendant, defendant's spouse, or friends. 197 Wn. App. at 839. Froehlich observed that it may not be reasonable to consult with these specific people in all circumstances. But it construed Tyler to "suggest[] that an officer should at least consider whether the defendant can make arrangements for someone to remove the vehicle before impounding it.

Otherwise, the second community caretaking requirement would be superfluous." Id. (emphasis in original).

To the extent the Court of Appeals opinion reflects confusion about whether the police are obligated to consider other available drivers, substantial public interest favors review. In *Froehlich*, the Court of Appeals was also unclear in how strictly the case law mandates the police to look for other available drivers. This Court has recently granted review of a statute that purports to mandate impoundment in certain

situations. State v. Joel Villela, S.Ct. No. 96183-2. Because of the on-going public interest and potential court confusion regarding the scope of the basic constitutional requirement that the police pursue reasonable alternatives prior to impounding a person's car, including considering other available drivers, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Timothy Ketchum respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).