FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/15/2019 4:48 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96927-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY KETCHUM,

Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

Court of Appeals No. 51062-6-II Clallam County Superior Court No. 17-1-00217-7

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK B. NICHOLS Prosecuting Attorney

JESSE ESPINOZA
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

223 East 4th Street, Suite 11 Port Angeles, WA 98362 (360) 417-2301

ERVICE

Nancy P. Collins Attorney for Petitioner Washington Appellate Project 1511 Third Ave., Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is the State of Washington. The answer is filed by Clallam County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Jesse Espinoza.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State respectfully requests that this Court to deny review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision reversing the trial court's suppression order in *State v. Ketchum*, No. 51062-6-II (February 6, 2019), a copy of which is attached to the petition for review.¹

The Court of Appeals, in conformity with well-established principles held "Barnes has not shown that the interests of justice require re-litigation of the sufficiency of the evidence issue." *Id.* at 9. Additionally, the court held, "Barnes has not met his burden of showing by clear and convincing evidence that he was actually factually innocent of the burglary conviction." *Id.* at 10.

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The question presented is whether this Court should decline to accept review because none of the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) are met, because:

- 1. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals; and
- 2. The petition fails to present a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and of the United States; and
- 3. The petition fails to present any issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?

//

¹ See also State v. Ketchum, 2019 WL 460355, at *5 (Wn. App. Div. 2, 2019).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 12, 2016, Ketchum was stopped by the Washington State Patrol (WSP) Trooper Nelson, for speeding on Highway 101, north of Forks, in Clallam County, Washington. CP 12, RP 8. Trooper Nelson determined that Ketchum was driving while his license was suspended and that he had five active warrants for charges that included driving with license suspended in the third degree. CP 12. Ketchum was not the owner of the vehicle as it was owned by Ketchum's girlfriend who lives in Port Orchard, in Kitsap County. RP 12, CP 12. Ketchum told Trooper Nelson that he had been borrowing the car for the past few days. RP 12.

Trooper Allen arrested Ketchum for driving with his license suspended and on his outstanding warrant out of Clallam County District Court for Driving While License Suspended. CP 12; RP 13.

Considerations regarding decision to impound

Trooper Allen testified that it was a "hard rain" at the time of the stop. RP 13. "Hard rain" in Forks means that the rain is bouncing off the pavement such that it comes back up and gets people wet. RP 13. The rain came in intervals and there was a lot of standing water on the roadway. RP 14. Visibility on the highway was poor at times and the sky was overcast. RP 14. It was approximately 4:30 p.m. and, although it was not a rush-hour, Trooper Allen recalled a good number of logging trucks commuting back to Forks on the highway around that time. RP 24, 25.

Trooper Nelson testified that he did not believe there were any reasonable alternatives to impounding the vehicle because of the road and weather conditions. RP 29. Nelson also pointed out that there was no place to push the vehicle to get it off the traveled portion of the road. RP 29. The traveled portions of the road included the shoulders because bicyclists use the shoulder a lot. RP 28–29. Trooper Nelson's safety considerations were based upon his experience patrolling that particular area of Highway 101 in the past 20 years. RP 30.

Trooper Nelson also considered whether there was anybody available to pick the vehicle up. RP 30. Trooper Nelson was aware that the owner of the vehicle resided in Port Orchard as that was what Ketchum told him, and that she was currently in Port Orchard. RP 30, 36. Trooper Nelson also considered the fact that Ketchum was being arrested for driving with his license suspended and that he had a prior conviction for driving with his license suspended. RP 33.

Trooper Nelson did not ask Ketchum what he wanted done with the vehicle and he didn't ask Ketchum whether there was anyone else who could or would come to take the vehicle. RP 35. Trooper Nelson decided to have the vehicle impounded. RP 15.

Miranda Rights

Trooper Nelson advised Ketchum of his *Miranda* rights and Ketchum verbally acknowledged that he understood his rights. RP 16. Trooper Nelson informed Ketchum that he was going to do an inventory search to secure his personal items so that everything could be documented before the vehicle was towed to an impound lot. RP 15. Ketchum told Trooper Nelson about the

marijuana in the vehicle and that it belonged to him and he did not want lose to the marijuana. RP 16. Trooper Nelson told Ketchum that the marijuana would be secured. RP 16

<u>Inventory search</u>

During the inventory search, Trooper Allen found quart size bags of marijuana Ketchum had already mentioned and which he did not want to lose. RP 20. Attached to one of the bags of marijuana, Trooper Allen found a smaller bag containing white crystal substance which he suspected to be methamphetamine. RP 20. Trooper Allen described the package as being stuck to the marijuana package. RP 21.

Ketchum, the sole occupant of the vehicle, stated that the marijuana was his and that he didn't want to lose it but denied that the white crystal substance was his. RP 14, 20. Ketchum said that there were other people that borrowed the vehicle the night before in the Sequim area. RP 14–15, 20–21.

Just prior to the tow truck hooking up the vehicle to take it to impound, WSP Sgt. Ryan contacted Trooper Nelson to inform him that the owner of the vehicle, Ms. Parker, called to inform that the vehicle was taken without her permission by Ketchum. RP 19. Parker stated that she didn't want to file a report for Theft. RP 19. Trooper Nelson did not make any attempt to contact the owner of the vehicle, Ms. Parker. RP 36.

//

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE PETITIONER HAS NOT ESTABLISHED ANY OF THE CONSIDERATIONS GOVERNING ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW SET FORTH IN RAP 13.4(b).

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or

If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or

If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

1. The Court of Appeals decision reversing the trial court's suppression order and *State v. Peterson* are consistent with Washington appellate decisions *State v. Tyler* and *State v. Froehlich* as explained in *Froehlich*.

Ketchum argues that, under *State v. Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d 690, 698–99, 302 P.3d 165 (2013), the State must prove no reasonable alternatives to impoundment exist before an officer may impound a vehicle. Br. of Petitioner at 8, 12. This would require the State to prove an absolute negative. *Tyler* does not go so far.

The *Tyler* Court specifically pointed out that "[t]he police officer does not have to exhaust all possible alternatives, but must consider reasonable alternatives." *Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d at 699 (citing *State v. Coss*, 87 Wn. App. 891, 899, 943 P.2d 1126 (1997)). "Reasonableness of an impoundment must be

assessed in light of the facts of each case." *Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d at 699 (citing *Coss*, 87 Wn. App. at 898).

In *Tyler*, the Court pointed out that there was both a lawful basis to impound a vehicle under the community caretaking function and because the driver was arrested for driving with a suspended license. *Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d at 700 ("We conclude the trial court correctly determined that the impound was proper. The vehicle threatened public safety if left where it was. In addition, Tyler had been arrested for, among other things, driving with a suspended license. Anglin explored reasonable alternatives to impoundment."). The *Tyler* Court did not hold that failure to ask the driver if someone is available to pick up the vehicle prior to impounding a vehicle because the driver's license is suspended is a failure to consider reasonable alternatives.

As recognized in *State v. Froehlich*, the requirement that, prior to impounding a vehicle, the officer must inquire if the defendant, defendant's spouse or friends are not available to pick up the vehicle is limited to the community caretaking function, not when the impound occurs under statutory authorization. 197 Wn. App. 831, 838, 391 P.3d 559 (2017) (citing *Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d at 698) ("The community caretaking function allows law enforcement to lawfully impound a vehicle when both (1) "the vehicle must be moved because it has been abandoned, impedes traffic, or otherwise threatens public safety or if there is a threat to the vehicle itself and its contents of vandalism or theft;" and (2) "the defendant, the defendant's spouse, or friends are not available to move the vehicle.").

Froehlich, clarifies this distinction by citing to *Peterson* to point out that the statutory authorization for impound does not necessarily require the officer to find out if the driver, driver's spouse or friend is available to pick up the vehicle. "*Peterson* involved an officer's statutory authority to impound a vehicle when the driver had a suspended license and the owner was not at the scene, not the community caretaking function." *Froehlich*, 197 Wn. App. at 840 (citing *State v*. *Peterson*, 92 Wn. App. 899, 902–03, 964 P.2d 1231 (1998)). "Therefore, the State was not required to establish, as here, that the driver's spouse and friends were not available to move the vehicle." *Froehlich*, 197 Wn. App. at 840.

All three cases, *Tyler*, *Peterson*, and *Froehlich* are consistent and all require that reasonable alternatives to impounding be considered first. Those cases note that there are three different ways a vehicle is lawfully impounded. *Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d at 698 (citing *State v. Williams*, 102 Wn.2d 733, 742–43, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984)) (referencing impoundment as evidence of crime, for community caretaking, and in the course traffic enforcement where authorized by legislature).

The Court of Appeals decision in this case is consistent with all the above because the record shows that Trooper Nelson did consider whether there were reasonable alternatives and determined that there were not any under the circumstances. One of the circumstances of this case is that Ketchum took the vehicle without the permission of the owner and loaned it to individuals he claimed used the vehicle in connection with illicit drugs. RP 20–21. It is highly

probable that asking such a driver to find someone of his choosing to take the vehicle would be poor law enforcement work.

Finally, the Court of Appeals recognized, as in *Peterson*, that the case involved an officer's statutory authority to impound a vehicle because Ketchum's driver's license was suspended and the owner was not at the scene.

Therefore, Ketchum has not established that there is a conflict of case law that needs to be reviewed by this Court.

2. The *Froehlich* Court's interpretation of *Tyler's* second requirement for impoundment on community caretaking grounds has no applicability to the instant case which therefore does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

Ketchum argues that an issue of substantial public interest is raised in this case due to the *Froehlich* Court's comment showing uncertainty in how strictly to apply *Tyler*. Br. of Petitioner at 15. The *Froehlich* Court stated as follows:

How strictly the second *community caretaking* requirement stated in Tyler should be applied is *somewhat unclear*. We can conceive of circumstances where it would be reasonable for an officer to impound a vehicle even though he or she may not know the availability of the defendant or the defendant's spouse or friends to remove a vehicle or when removal by those persons would be impractical. However, Tyler suggests that an officer should at least consider whether the defendant can make arrangements for someone to remove the vehicle before impounding it. Otherwise, the *second community caretaking requirement* would be superfluous.

Froehlich, 197 Wn. App. at 839 (emphasis added).

"Law enforcement may lawfully impound a vehicle for three reasons: (1) as evidence of a crime, (2) under the community caretaking function, or (3) when the driver has committed a "traffic offense for which the legislature has expressly

authorized impoundment." *Froehlich*, 197 Wn. App. at 838 (citing *Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d at 698.)

Here, it is clear that the impoundment at issue in this case relates to the third reason, "a traffic offense for which the legislature has expressly authorized impoundment." *Id.* The second community caretaking requirement in *Froehlich* has no application in this case, and therefore, does not raise an issue of substantial public interest.

Review of the Court of Appeals decision is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

VI. CONCLUSION

Ketchum has failed to establish either a conflict between the Court of Appeals, Div. 2, decision or decisions of another division or the Supreme Court. Ketchum has also not established that this case raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court deny Ketchum's Petition for Review.